No. 82970-0 

IN DIVISION I OF THE COURT OF APPEALS 
OF THE ST A TE OF WASHINGTON 

FILED 
Court of Appeals 

Division I 
State of Washington 
1/26/2023 4:27 PM 

NATHAN BUDKE, an individual, and all those similarly 
situated, 

Petitioner, 

vs. 

DAN'S HERBS, LLC, d.b.a. HIGHER LEAF MARIJUANA 
BOUTIQUE, a Washington limited liability company; FIVE 

STAR TRADING COMPANY, LLC, d.b.a. HIGHER LEAF, a 
Washington limited liability company; and MOLLY HONIG, 
DANIEL DUBOIS, BEYERL Y KELLEHER, DA VE MILLS, 

and CATHERINE SCHULTZ, each an individual, and their 
respective marital communities, 

Respondent. 

NATHAN BUDKE'S PETITION FOR REVIEW 

Attornevs for Nathan Budke 
CHRISTOPHER M.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW 

I. ls the "clear and affirmative" consent standard 

under CEMA a question of law rather than a question of fact? 

2. Does CEMA require a person to obtain the written 

consent of the phone subscriber in advance of sending the 

subscriber commercial text messages? 

3. Does Division I's holding violate the U.S. 

Constitution's Supremacy Clause and the TCPA's Savings 

Clause? 

4. Does Division I's holding ignore or deviate from 

the Legislature's intent under the Consumer Protection Act, 
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RCW 19.86, that Washington courts be guided by final 

decisions of the federal courts and final orders of federal 

commissions interpreting the TCP A? 

5. Does Division J's holding conflict with this 

Court's decision on issues of the CPA, CEMA, and statutory 

construction? 

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE 

Mr. Budke is a Washington resident who uses a text­

enabled telephone. CP at 16, Comp!. il 5.12. On July 25, 2020, 

Mr. Budke visited one of Respondents' Higher Leaf retail 

stores. Id., Comp!.~ 5.13. During the visit, a Higher Leaf 

salesperson verbally obtained Mr. Budke's phone number after 

the salesperson invited Mr. Budke to join the Respondents' 

loyalty program. CP at 15-16, Comp!. il~ 5.9, 5.13 - 5.14. 

Neither the salesperson nor anyone else at Higher Leaf 

informed Mr. Budke that his phone number would be used in 

the Respondents' unsolicited commercial text message 

spamming campaigns. CP at 16, Comp!.~~ 5.15. In fact, Mr. 
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Budke did not consent in any manner to receive commercial 

text messages, whether verbal, written, or otherwise. Id., 

Comp!. ,i,i 5.16. 

Over the next several weeks, Mr. Budke received 

multiple unsolicited commercial text messages from 

Respondents, which promoted their brand, products for sale, 

and online order discounts. CP at 16-18, Comp!. ,i,i 5. I 7 - 5 .20. 

Mr. Budke subsequently filed a putative class action against 

Defendants for violating CEMA through the sending of 

unsolicited commercial text messages to phone subscribers 

without first obtaining their clear and affim1ative consent in 

advance to receive these text messages. 

As discussed in depth in Part II herein, the parties all 

agreed that Washington courts should look to the FCC's Orders 

implementing the TCP A, an analogous federal statute, when 

considering interpreting the standard of "clear and affirmative 

consent" under CEMA. The superior court denied Respondents' 

Motion to Dismiss, and Division I did not reverse that decision. 

7 



Division I's opinion, however, leads to serious problems that 

this Court should address. 

V. ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE 
ACCEPTED 

This Court may accept a petition for review of a Court of 

Appeals decision if the decision involves an issue of substantial 

public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court, 

RAP 13.4(b)(4); or if the decision involves a significant 

question of law under the Constitution of the State of 

Washington or of the United States, RAP 13.4(b)(3); or if the 

decision of a Court of Appeals is in conflict with a decision of 

the Supreme Court. This Court should accept review for all of 

these reasons. 

I. Division l's Holding Causes CEMA to Violate 
the U.S. Constitution's Supremacy Clause and 
the TCP A's Savings Clause. 

This Court may accept a petition for review where 

Division l's decision involves a significant question oflaw 

under the federal or state constitutions. RAP 13.4(b)(3). 
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Division I held that "whether a consumer consents to receive 

commercial messages under CEMA is a question of fact based 

on the totality of the circumstances." This decision places 

CEMA in conflict with the federal TCP A, thereby violating the 

Supremacy Clause, U.S. Const. art. VI, cl. 2. 

The TCPA contains a savings/preemption clause that 

states, in part, that state telemarketing laws dealing with 

telephone solicitations are not preempted if they impose more 

restrictive intrastate requirements or regulations on, or prohibit, 

them. 47 U.S.C. § 227 (f)(I )(A), (D). "[B]oth the text and the 

legislative history of the TCP A suggest that Congress intended 

to set a unifo1m minimum standard of consent, while permitting 

the states, who have an obvious interest in protecting their 

citizens and are better able to understand their needs, to enact 

more restrictive regulations if necessary." Massachusetts Ass 'n 

of Private Career Schools v. Healey, 159 F.Supp.3d 173, 218 

(D. Mass. 2016) (quoting Sussman v.1.C. System, Inc., 928 

F.Supp.2d 784,791 (S.D.N.Y. 2013). 
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The FCC has similarly stated: 

"[B]y operation of general conflict preemption 
law, the federal rules constitute a floor, and 
therefore would supersede all less restrictive state 
[]rules.We believe any such rules would frustrate 
Congress' purposes and objectives in promulgating 
the TCPA. Specifically, application of less 
restrictive state exemptions directly conflicts with 
the federal objectives in protecting consumer 
privacy rights under the TCPA ... Because the 
TCP A applies to both intrastate and interstate 
communications, the minimum requirements for 
compliance are therefore uniform throughout the 
nation. We believe this resolves any potential 
confusion for industry and consumers regarding 
the application of less restrictive [] rules." 

In re Rules & Regulations Implementing the Tel. 
Consumer Prof. Act of 1991, 18 F.C.C. Red. 
14014, 14062-63 at para. 81 (July 3, 2003) 
(emphasis added). 

Division I's decision - that "clear and affirmative 

consent" under CEMA is a question of fact for the fact finder 

based upon the totality of the circumstances - runs afoul of the 

minimum requirement for written consent under the TCPA. 

Both the TCP A and CEMA place a consent requirement on 

commercial text messages sent with an ATOS. The TCPA does 
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this directly in the text of the law, and CEMA does this 

indirectly by placing requirements on all commercial text 

messages. The interplay and overlap looks like this: 

1 1 



Division I created a scenario where CEMA would allow 

an ambiguous and subjective "question of fact" analysis 

regarding what is required for consent to receive a commercial 

text message sent by an ATDS. However, there is no question 

of fact on what the TCP A requires. Through the FCC, Congress 

has commanded that written consent is required. Division I's 

decision creates an obvious conflict preemption problem and 

has effectively rendered CEMA unconstitutional based on the 

U.S. Constitution's Supremacy Clause. This Court should 

correct this error and protect the laws of Washington from 

unnecessary preemption. 

2. Division l's Decision Will Profoundly Affect the 
Public Interests of Consumers Throughout 
Washington. 

This Court may accept a petition for review where 

Division l's decision involves an issue of substantial public 

interest that should be detennined by the Supreme Court. RAP 

13.4(b)(4). The manner in which millions of phone subscribers 

are subjected to unsolicited commercial text messages remains 

12 



a consumer protection issue of great import. It is an issue that 

vitally affects the public interest in a world where a cell phone 

is in nearly every home and every pocket. 

This Court previously acknowledged the public interest 

inherent in CEMA in the decision of Wright v. Lyfi, 189 Wn.2d 

718, 406 P.3d 1149 (2017). "Recognizing the rise of unsolicited 

commercial text messages sent to cell phones, lawmakers 

sought to 'limit the practice."' Wright, 189 Wn.2d at 724 (citing 

LAWS OF 2003, ch. 137 § I). RCW 19.190.060(2) includes a 

legislative finding: 

"that the practices covered by this section are 
matters vitally affecting the public interest for the 
purpose of applying the consumer protection act, 
chapter 19.86 RCW. A violation of this section is 
not reasonable in relation to the development and 
preservation of business and is an unfair and 
deceptive act in trade or commerce and an unfair 
method of competition for the purpose of apply the 
consumer protection act, chapter 19.86 RCW." 

It is the "legislature's intent that for CEMA violations to 

be brought under the CPA." Wright, 189 Wn.2d at 726. Under 

the CPA, one of the fundamental purposes is "to complement 
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the body of federal law governing restraints of trade, unfair 

competition, and unfair, deceptive, and fraudulent acts or 

practices." RCW 19.86.920. The CPA also declares that "[i]t is 

the intent of the legislature that, in construing this act, the 

courts be guided by final decisions of the federal courts and 

final orders of the federal trade commission interpreting the 

various federal statutes dealing with the same or similar 

matters." 

Despite both parties to the lawsuit arguing that the 

appellate court should look to federal court decision and FCC 

Orders concerning the TCP A, Division I chose not to follow 

long-standing principles of consumer protection. Instead, 

Division I looked to an individualized question-of-fact standard 

of consent based upon the totality of the circumstances in each 

case. Division I also ignored the Legislature's instruction under 

the CPA, in spite of clear guidance from the federal courts (who 

deal with telemarketing claims more often) having routinely 

applied TCPA interpretations to claims under CEMA. See Wick 
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v. Twilio Inc., 20 I 7 WL 2964855, at *5 (W.D. Wash. July 12, 

2017) (" ... the Court applies the federal interpretations of 

the TCPA when considering this [CEMA] claim."); Gragg v. 

Orange Cab Co., Inc., 2013 WL 195466, at *4 (W.D. Wash. 

Jan. 17, 2013) (finding that despite differences in word choice, 

both CEMA and W ADAD regulate communications that 

promote or encourage commercial transactions and that their 

interpretation should, absent controlling state decisions, be 

guided by the administrative and judicial interpretations of 

the TCPA). 

Division I's decision not to follow, or even consider, the 

legislature's instruction under the CPA when considering a 

CPA claim is unprecedented. Division I's opinion sets the stage 

for future decisions by appellate courts that likewise stray from 

consumer protection principles on CPA claims. Division I's 

decision to wholly ignore the legislature's will and CPA 

guidance warrants review by this Court to ensure that the 

sanctity of the CPA remains intact. 
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3. Division l's Decision Is in Conflict with This 
Court's Decisions. 

This Court may accept a petition for review where 

Division I's decision is in conflict with a decision of the 

Supreme Court. RAP l 3.4(b )(I). Division I's decision conflicts 

with this Court's long-standing CPA and statutory construction 

jurisprudence. 

As discussed above in Part V.11, Division I's decision not 

to be guided by federal law stands in conflict of this Court's 

recognition of that CPA principle. See Klem v. Washington 

Mut. Bank, 176 Wn.2d 771,787,295 P.3d 1179 (2013) 

("[Under RCW 19.86.920] [t]he Washington Legislature 

instructed courts to be guided by federal law in the area."). 

Division I's decision to create a "clear and affirmative 

consent" standard that leaves open the door for innumerable 

fact-based detenninations of consent is also in conflict with this 

Court's recognition in Wright of the legislature's desire to limit 

the practice of sending unsolicited commercial text messages: 
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The legislature recognizes that the number of 
unsolicited commercial text messages sent to 
cellular telephones and pagers is increasing. This 
practice is raising serious concerns on the part of 
cellular telephone and pager subscribers. These 
unsolicited messages often result in costs to the 
cellular telephone and pager subscribers in that 
they pay for use when a message is received 
through their devices. The limited memory of these 
devices can be exhausted by unwanted text 
messages resulting in the inability to receive 
necessary and expected messages. The legislature 
intents {intends} to limit the practice o.fsending 
unsolicited commercial text messages to cellular 
telephone or pager numbers in Washington. 

189 Wn.2d at 730 ( citing Laws of 2003, ch. I 37, § 
I; RCW 19.190.060, Intent (emphases added)). 

Division I's refusal to follow the minimum federal 

telemarketing standard of written consent has the exact opposite 

effect that the Washington legislature intended - it allows for 

the proliferation of unsolicited commercial text messages, 

rather than restricting them. 

Division l's decision to rest on a plain language question­

of-fact standard is also in conflict with this Court's decisions 

that require carrying out the manifest intent of the legislature 
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when a contrary intent appears, as when the Washington 

legislature intentionally did not define the term "clear and 

affirmative consent". See In re Estate of Little, I 06 Wn.2d 269, 

283, 721 P.2d 950 (1986) (The court must give words in a 

statute their plain and ordinary meaning unless a contrary intent 

appears); Martin v. Department of'Social Sec., 12 Wn.2d 329, 

121 P.2d 394 ( 1942) (When a statute is susceptible to a 

reasonable interpretation, it is the court's duty to carry out the 

manifest intent of the legislature); Columbia Riverkeeper v. 

Port of' Vancouver USA, 188 Wn.2d 421, 435, 395 P.3d I 031 

(2017) (The court then considers the text of the provision, the 

context of the statute in which the provision is found, related 

provisions, amendments to the provision, and the statutory 

scheme as a whole). 

Division I's decision is in conflict with decisions of this 

Court on the CPA, CEMA, and statutory construction. Under 

Division I's interpretation of CEMA, every commercial text 

message sent to a Washington recipient is now subject to a 
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consent standard that will vary depending on the subjective 

opinion of each fact finder, with no guidance or assurance to 

both the business or consumer that the communication is 

lawful. 

This Court should accept review to correct these conflicts 

and provide guidance to businesses that choose to send 

Washington law-compliant text messages, to provide certainty 

and uniformity as to the protections for consumers receiving 

these text messages, and to provide guidance to the lower courts 

hearing CEMA cases. 

VI. CONCLUSION 

Based upon the foregoing, Mr. Budke petitions this Court 

to accept review of this matter. 

VII. WORD COUNT CERTIFICATION 

The undersigned certifies that this document contains 

2,858 words and complies with RAP 18.17. 
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SUBMITTED this 26th day of January 2023. 

HOGUE LAW FIRM