FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 2/27/2023 BY ERIN L. LENNON CLERK

FILED Court of Appeals Division I State of Washington 2/27/2023 2:12 PM

### 101667-1

#### No. 829700

## COURT OF APPEALS, DIVISION I, OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

(King County Superior Court Cause No. 21-2-02324-6 SEA)

### NATHAN BUDKE,

Plaintiff / Petitioner;

v.

DAN'S HERBS, LLC, d.b.a. HIGHER LEAF MARIJUANA BOUTIQUE, a Washington limited liability company; FIVE STAR TRADING COMPANY, LLC, d.b.a. HIGHER LEAF, a Washington limited liability company; and MOLLY HONIG, DANIEL DUBOIS, BEVERLY KELLEHER, DAVE MILLS, and CATHERINE SCHULTZ, each an individual, and their respective marital communities,

#### **III. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF ISSUE**

Does the Court of Appeals' decision that the totality of circumstances surrounding a consumer's interactions with a commercial enterprise guides whether that consumer has given "consent to receive commercial text messages under CEMA" raise a significant constitutional question? Does that court's decision involve an issue of substantial public interest? Does it conflict with the decisions of this Court? The answer to all three questions is: "No."

### IV. COUNTERSTATEMENT OF THE CASE

On February 10, 2021, Nathan Budke filed this purported class action against Respondents, alleging that Higher Leaf violated CEMA, and by extension, Washington's Consumer Protection Act ("CPA"), when Higher Leaf sent Budke three promotional text messages following his visit to Higher Leaf's retail store in Kirkland, Washington. CP 1. "During the course of the in-store transaction, an employee and agent of Defendants verbally obtained Mr. Budke's cellular phone number." CP 16. As context for this communication, Budke alleged: "Defendants operate a 'loyalty program' within the 'Higher Leaf' brand to advertise and promote the mass-marketing, sale, and distribution of recreational cannabis ... by offering former, current, and potential customers various discounts and incentives at Defendants' retail locations." CP 14-15. "Defendants collect telephone contact information from

first-time and returning customers, including but not limited to Plaintiff, at the point of sale during the course of consumer transactions ... for the purpose of sending advertisements and promotions via text messages to [these] customers." CP 15. "Defendants' 'loyalty program' is a joint program under a uniform 'Higher Leaf' system where collection of an individual's cellular phone number on one of the Defendants' retail locations results in that individual receiving unsolicited commercial text messages promoting discounts, incentives, and sales of cannabis-related products for all of Defendants' retail locations ...." CP 15-16.

Higher Leaf moved to dismiss Budke's claims under CR 12(b)(6). CP 29-38. Higher Leaf argued that Budke's claims were defeated by his admission that he voluntarily provided his cell phone number under the circumstances described in his complaint. The Superior Court denied Higher Leaf's motion. CP 115. In handwritten remarks on its order, the Superior Court said: "[T]he Court does not reach the question of whether the federal 'prior written consent' standard governs Plaintiffs' claim. Even under the

federal standard that pre-dates the 2012 FCC order, the complaint states a claim under which relief could be granted." CP 118. Higher Leaf then moved for certification under RAP 2.3(b)(4), CP 131-138, which motion Budke did not oppose. CP 148 ("Plaintiff provides notice to the Court that he does not oppose Defendants' request to have this Court certify discretionary review of the Court's ... Order denying Defendants' CR 12(b)(6) Motion to Dismiss."). The Superior Court granted the parties' "Stipulated Order ... for Certification" on four "issues of law." CP 156-157.

Higher Leaf then moved for discretionary review. Budke answered. Higher Leaf replied. In a letter ruling dated November 12, 2021 (Appendix I hereto), Commissioner Masako Kanazawa granted discretionary review on only one of the four issues the trial court certified, and only under RAP 2.3(b)(4). Though Petitioner Budke argues about the three issues rejected by Division One for discretionary review; there is but one question with which Budke's Petition to this Court should concern itself: whether consent under CEMA is a pure question of law? Division One's conclusion that consent is a question of fact, and therefore is "not reviewable as a controlling question of law under RAP 2.3(b)(4)," merits no basis for review under RAP 13.4(b) . And were it to matter, Division One did not grant discretionary review based on any other criteria listed in RAP 2.3(b).<sup>2</sup>

### V. ARGUMENT

RAP 13.4(b) establishes four bases upon which this Court will grant a Petition for Review. Petitioner here advances argument on three of them, but he cannot meet his burden on any one of them.

## A. <u>"Does Division I's holding violate the U.S. Constitution's</u> <u>Supremacy Clause and the TCPA's Savings Clause?"</u>

CEMA, Washington's Commercial Electronic Mail Act, RCW 19.190 *et seq.*, was enacted in 1998.<sup>3</sup> It provides:

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>2</sup> RAP 2.3(b) identifies three other grounds upon which the Court of Appeals can grant discretionary review: (1) [O]bvious error; (2) probable error that substantially alters the status quo or limits a party's freedom to act; and (3) such departure from the "accepted and usual course of judicial proceedings" as to call for appellate review. None of these apply here.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>3</sup> This Court recounted CEMA's legislative history in *Wright* v. *Lyft, Inc.*, 189 Wn.2d 718, 724-725, 406 P.3d 1149 (2017). The

It is not a violation of RCW 19.190.060 if ... The unsolicited commercial electronic text message is transmitted by a person to a subscriber and the subscriber has *clearly and affirmatively consented* in advance to receive these text messages.

RCW 19.190.070(1)(b) (emphasis added). CEMA does not require any specific form of consent—only that consent be clear and affirmative. *Id.* Clear and affirmative consent can take many forms beyond something written. *See, e.g., State v. Meredith,* 18 Wn. App. 2d. 499, 492 P.3d 198 (Wn. Ct. App. 2021) (act of boarding a bus constituted consent to conditions of ridership). This is not a novel concept. Nor is there anything surprising or noteworthy about Division One's statement that "Washington courts have consistently held that whether a person provides express or implied consent is a question of fact to be determined from the totality of

<sup>&</sup>quot;consent" provision at issue in this case was added in 2003 and has not changed since. CEMA was last amended in 2005, when the legislature added protections against "phishing." In 2022, the legislature considered an amendment *that would have added a written consent* requirement to CEMA. *See* Engrossed Substitute House Bill 1650 (2022 regular session). This proposed amendment did not pass out of committee.

the circumstances."<sup>4</sup> And, it was upon this statement that Division One based its holding that the issue presented for discretionary review was "a question of fact not reviewable as a controlling question of law under RAP 2.3(b)(4)."

Such simple, logical, and direct observations about what constitutes consent in Washington, and about whether the Court of Appeals' rules prescribing grounds for discretionary review are met, do not raise a constitutional question of any kind.

Budke's argument that "Division I's Holding Causes CEMA to Violate the U.S. Constitution's Supremacy Clause [Etc.]" is fundamentally misplaced. "Division I's Holding" does nothing of the kind. "Division I's Holding" simply is that consent, under Washington law, depends on the totality of circumstances, and does

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>4</sup> Opinion at p. 6. This determination was followed most recently in *Barton v. Delfauw*, 2023 U.S. DIST. LEXIS 21804 (W.D. Wash. Feb. 7, 2023) at \*15: "Further, on an issue of first impression, a Washington Court of Appeals recently held that, as it relates to RCW 19.190.070(1)(b), 'whether a person provides express or implied consent is a question of fact to be determined from the totality of the circumstances.' *Budke v. Dan's Herbs, LLC*, No. 82970-0-I, 2022 Wash. App. LEXIS 2451 at \* 3 (Wash. Ct. App. Dec. 27, 2022) (collecting cases). Accordingly, whether or not plaintiff consented [under RCW 19.190.060(1) and 80.36.390(2)] is an issue of fact to be determined by a jury."

not present a pure question of law for which discretionary review by the Court of Appeals is available. What constitutes consent during a commercial transaction between a Washington business and a Washington consumer raises no constitutional issue whatsoever.<sup>5</sup>

<sup>5</sup> Regarding the "merits" of Budke's "constitutional argument," Higher Leaf refers this Court to "Petitioner's Reply Brief" filed with Division One on 8/12/2022. As discussed therein: (1) Mr. Budke failed to raise his constitutional / preemption argument in the trial court and preemption is not an issue that can be raised for the first time on appeal. See e.g. RAP 2.4(a); RAP 2.5(a); Ruddach v. Don Johnston Ford, 97 Wn.2d 277, 281, 644 P.2d 671, 673 (1982) ("Issues not raised in the trial court will not be considered for the first time on appeal."). (2) Exceptions to this general rule do not apply. See Wingert v. Yellow Freight Sys., 146 Wn.2d 841, 853-54, 50 P.3d 256, 262-63 (2002) (where this Court noted that although RAP 2.5(a) allows for a party to present a new issue where "the record has been sufficiently developed to fairly consider the ground ... The preemptive effect of federal law is not an issue that satisfies any of the exceptions to the general rule that 'arguments not raised in the trial court generally will not be considered on appeal.""). (3) There is a strong presumption against preemption of state laws by federal enactments. See Hue v. Farmboy Spray Co., 127 Wn.2d 67, 78, 896 P.2d 682, 688 (1995) ("we have 'repeatedly emphasized' that there is a 'strong presumption against finding preemption"). (4) If CEMA applies, which is the basis for Budke's request for relief under Washington's Consumer Protection Act, CP 20-22; then CEMA cannot be "preempted" by a federal statute, *i.e.*, the TCPA, that Budke did not reference at all in his complaint. (5) The grounds for

# B. <u>Division One's Decision to Let the Trier of Fact</u> <u>Determine "Consent" Based on Totality of</u> <u>Circumstances Does Not "Involve an Issue of Substantial</u> <u>Public Interest."</u>

A violation of CEMA is actionable under Washington's CPA. RCW 19.190.040. Higher Leaf does not contest this point. And, there are other state laws and regulations that, if violated, can be redressed under the CPA. See, e.g., Washington's Fair Credit Reporting Act, RCW 19.18 et seq., discussed in Handlin v. On-Site Manager, Inc., 187 Wn. App. 841, 351 P.3d 226 (2015); Washington's Collection Agency Act, RCW 19.16, discussed in Panang v. Farmers Ins. Co. of Wash., 166 Wn.2d 27, 204 P.3d 885 (2009); and RCW 48.01 et seq., Washington's Insurance Code, discussed in Kosovan v. Omni Ins. Co., 19 Wn. App. 2d 668, 496 P.3d 347 (2021). If, however, every CPA case based on an alleged statutory violation merited this Court's review because the public's interest is involved; then this Court would have to review dozens if

<sup>&</sup>quot;conflict preemption" do not apply here—either impossibility preemption or obstacle preemption. The TCPA applies to automatic telephone dialing systems ("ATDS") only. The three text messages Budke received from Higher Leaf were not ATDS generated.

not hundreds of such cases every year. No other work would get done. That cannot be the rule. "Substantial public interest" must mean something more than a claim's CPA actionability.

There have been few cases brought under CEMA since its enactment in 1998. If there were such a demand for redress by "millions of phone subscribers ... subjected to unsolicited commercial text messages[,]" as Budke argues (see pages 12-13 of his Petition) without any metric of legal support, then would not there be dozens—if not hundreds of such cases—pending in Washington's courts, and long before now? The proof is in the pudding, as they say. There is a dearth, not a plethora, of CEMA cases demanding liability as a matter of law because the complainant did not give his or her or their consent in writing under a statute that does not mandate written consent.

Petitioner cites *Wright v. Lyft, Inc.*, 189 Wn.2d 718, 406 P.3d 1149 (2017) in support of his "substantial public interest" argument and his claim that "Division I chose not to follow long-standing principles of consumer protection." The *Wright* court answered two

certified questions involving statutory interpretation from the U.S. District Court, Western Dist. WA: (1) "No," the recipient of a text message that violates CEMA does not have a private right of action for damages (other than for phishing violations); and (2) "yes," the causation and injury elements of a CPA claim are established as a matter of law when a person receives a text message that violates CEMA. This Court, in *Wright*, refused to imply a cause of action for damages under CEMA—hardly a "consumer take all" result, despite this Court's recognition of the legislature's consumer protection intent underlying CEMA. This Court also observed that "[w]hether Wright is ultimately successful proving Lyft violated RCW 19.190.060 by sending an unsolicited commercial text message is a question of fact to be determined at the district court." 189 Wn.2d. at 732 (emphasis added).<sup>6</sup> That statement is 100%

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>6</sup> This Court, in *Wright*, also noted: "We presume the legislature means exactly what it says.... Omissions are deemed to be exclusions." 189 Wn.2d at 727. "[R]eviewing courts cannot add words or clauses to a statute when the legislature has chosen not to include that language." *Id.* at 729. *These* remarks are important because Petitioner seeks to impose the requirement of a "writing" onto CEMA's consent provision. *See, e.g.*, Budke's Petition at 10:

consistent with Division One's holding in this case; *i.e.*, that whether Budke gave consent to receiving commercial text messages—when "after the [Higher Leaf] salesperson invited Mr. Budke to join [its] customer loyalty program,"<sup>7</sup> Mr. Budke provided his cell phone number—is a question of fact.

# C. Division One's Decision to Let the Trier of Fact Determine "Consent" Based on Totality of Circumstances Does Not "Conflict with This Court's Decisions."

Here, Petitioner argues "Division I's decision not to be guided by federal law stands in conflict of this Court's recognition of that CPA principle," referring to *Klem v. Washington Mut. Bank*, 176 Wn.2d 771, 295 P.3d 1179 (2013). What "CPA principle" is that? To what "federal law guide" is Petitioner referring?

In *Klem*, which involved a complicated fact pattern, this Court reviewed a matter involving CPA allegations. The case concerned an elderly woman, suffering from dementia, whose

<sup>7</sup> Brief of Respondent Nathan Budke at p.1.

<sup>&</sup>quot;Division I's decision ... runs afoul of the minimum requirement for written consent under the TCPA."

home was subject to a non-judicial foreclosure for an unpaid loan secured by her home. A notary had falsely notarized the notice of sale by predating the notary acknowledgement. The trustee knew of this, but proceeded with a nonjudicial foreclosure sale anyway, to the detriment of the plaintiff, and to the benefit of the foreclosing lender. Loss occurred because the plaintiff had a willing buyer, ready to pay market value, but the trustee sold the property to the lender on the first day it could (based on the predated notary acknowledgement), for only \$1.00 more than what the plaintiff owed.

The plaintiff sued the trustee for negligence, breach of contract, and violation of Washington's CPA. There was a jury trial and damages were awarded. Judgment was entered for the plaintiff on her CPA claim. The trustee appealed, and the court of appeals reversed, "appear[ing] to have agreed, that only an act or practice the legislature has declared to be 'unfair' is unfair for purposes of the CPA." 176 Wn. App. at 784.

This Court disagreed: "That is an incorrect reading of the act," and instead held "a claim under the Washington CPA may be predicated upon a per se violation of a statute, an act or practice that has the potential to deceive a substantial portion of the public, or an unfair or deceptive act or practice not regulated by statute but in violation of public interest." Id. at 787. Rightfully so, this Court was troubled by the private trustee's conduct, and the power vested in trustees to sell another's property: "We hold the practice of a trustee in a nonjudicial foreclosure deferring to the lender on whether to postpone a foreclosure sale and thereby failing to exercise its independent discretion as an impartial third party with duties to both parties is an unfair or deceptive act ... and satisfies the first element of the CPA." Id. at 792.

To the extent this Court considered what the congressional record said about the federal consumer protection act (the primary reason Petitioner cites the *Klem* case), it was only to note "there is 'no limit to human inventiveness'" when it comes to defining the term "unfair practices.' [It is] practically impossible to define unfair practices so that the definition will fit business of every sort in every part of this country." *Id.* at 786. Thus, this Court decided the conduct in which the *Klem* trustee engaged could be an unfair or deceptive act or practice actionable under the CPA, even though no statute expressly prohibited the trustee's actions. By contrast, and about which there is no dispute, CEMA expressly provides that a CEMA violation is actionable under the CPA. *Klem* by no means requires or even suggests that Washington courts cannot find issues of fact in CPA cases.

CEMA is a Washington statute that applies to commercial text messages sent to Washington consumers by a Washington business. Though CEMA may be "analogous" to the TCPA, a federal law that applies to automatic telephone dialing systems,<sup>8</sup>

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>8</sup> See N. L. v. Credit One Bank, N.A., 960 F.3d 1164, 1171 (9th Cir. 2020); see also Brief of Respondent [Budke], filed in Court of Appeals, Division I, 7/15/2022, at p. 6. A "necessary feature" of an ATDS "is the capacity to use a random or sequential number generator to either store or produce phone numbers to be called." *Facebook, Inc. v. Duguid*, 141 S. Ct. 1163, 1173, 209 L. Ed. 2d 272, 283 (2021). A dialing system that calls numbers from a list (Higher Leaf used its own customer loyalty list when it sent three text messages to Mr. Budke) is not an ATDS. *Id.* at 1166.

they are different statutes with different scopes and objectives.<sup>9</sup> Thus, Division One was well within its authority when it said "[w]e need not defer to the FCC's interpretation of terms in an analogous federal statute,"<sup>10</sup> and instead concluded "Washington courts have consistently held that whether a person provides express or implied consent is a question of fact to be determined from the totality of the circumstances.... We do not decide questions of fact under RAP 2.3(b)(4)."

### VI. CONCLUSION

The Court of Appeals' decision, for which Budke now seeks review, was simply that whether Nathan Budke gave "consent" under CEMA to receive commercial text messages from Higher Leaf after he voluntarily provided his cell number during a

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>9</sup> Washington has its own statutory prohibition against the use of automatic dialing devices to send commercial messages. *See* RCW 80.36.400.

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>10</sup> Opinion at p. 6, citing U.S. Supreme Court and Washington State precedent: "[W]e defer to an agency's interpretation of a statute only if the agency is charged with the administration and enforcement of the statute." The FCC has no authority over CEMA.

discussion with Higher Leaf about its loyalty program, must be determined from the totality of circumstances. Because consent is a question of fact under Washington law, Division One held that discretionary review of the trial court's certified question on this issue was unavailable under RAP 2.3(b)(4). No constitutional question is involved. There is no conflict with a decision of this Court. And, substantial public interest is not in play.

Budke's Petition for Review should be denied.

This document contains 3,381 words, excluding the parts of

the document exempted from the word count by RAP 18.17.